A.  SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

At 34 years old, Jason Giles has been sentenced to life without the 

possibility of parole for shoplifting less than $400 worth of goods, all but 

$84.99 of which was recovered.  His supporters at sentencing were so 

numerous, the court requested remarks from just three representatives.  

Mr. Giles’s convictions and sentence are unjust and erroneous on the 

several grounds enumerated below.   

B.  ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1.  The trial court violated Mr. Giles’s constitutional right to a 

public trial when it conducted for-cause challenges at sidebar and 

peremptory strikes on paper. 

2.  The trial court violated the public’s right to open proceedings 

when it conducted for-cause challenges at sidebar and peremptory strikes 

on paper. 

3.  In the absence of sufficient evidence to establish the elements 

of assault in the first degree beyond a reasonable doubt, the conviction 

violates due process.

4.  The State failed to prove the elements of robbery in the first 

degree, as instructed to the jury, beyond a reasonable doubt. 

5.  The State failed to prove an element of robbery in the second 

degree, as instructed to the jury, beyond a reasonable doubt. 
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6.  In both trials, the court’s instructions misstated the definition of 

proof beyond a reasonable doubt and diluted the State’s burden of proof. 

7.  The imposition of a life sentence without the possibility of 

parole violates article I, section 14 of the Washington Constitution. 

8.  The imposition of a life sentence without the possibility of 

parole violates the Eighth Amendment to the federal constitution.

9.  The imposition of a sentence of life without the possibility of 

parole based upon the trial court’s determination, by a preponderance of 

the evidence, that Mr. Giles had two prior convictions that qualify as 

“most serious offenses” violated his right to due process and a jury 

determination of every element of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt.   

10.  The imposition of a sentence of life without the possibility of 

parole based upon the trial court’s determination, by a preponderance of 

the evidence, that Mr. Giles had two prior convictions that qualify as 

“most serious offenses” violated his right to equal protection of the law. 

11.  The trial court erred in imposing discretionary court costs with 

a payment plan set to begin promptly without finding Mr. Giles had or 

likely will have the ability to pay.   

C.  ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1.  The federal and state constitutions guarantee the public and an 

accused the right to open and public trials.  Accordingly, criminal 



3

proceedings, including jury selection, may be closed to the public only 

when the trial court performs an on-the-record weighing test, as outlined 

in State v. Bone-Club, 128 Wn.2d 254, 258-59, 906 P.2d 325 (1995), and 

finds closure favored.  Violation of the right to a public trial is 

presumptively prejudicial.  Where peremptory challenges were conducted 

in written form and for-cause challenges at sidebar, both removed from 

public scrutiny, without considering the Bone-Club factors, was Mr. 

Giles’s and the public’s right to an open trial violated, requiring reversal? 

2.  To prove assault in the first degree, the State must show the 

accused acted with intent to inflict great bodily harm when assaulting 

another with a deadly weapon.  Where the evidence, even in the light most 

favorable to the State, fails to show either intent to inflict great bodily 

harm or the use of a deadly weapon, must the assault conviction be 

reversed and the charge dismissed with prejudice? 

3.  The State is required to prove the elements as alleged in the to-

convict instruction unless objected to.  The State did not object to the 

robbery in the first degree instruction that provided the jury must find 

beyond a reasonable doubt that the taking itself was accomplished by the 

use or threatened use of force, violence or fear of injury and, separately, 

that actual force or actual fear was used to obtain or retain possession.

Must the robbery conviction be reversed where the State presented 
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insufficient evidence that Mr. Giles used or threatened force, fear, or 

violence in taking the shoes out of the Champs store, as well as 

insufficient evidence that Mr. Giles used actual force or actual fear to 

obtain or retain possession of the shoes from the Champs store? 

4.  Must the second-degree robbery conviction also be reversed 

where the unobjected-to to-convict instruction required proof of a taking 

by the use or threatened use of force, violence or fear of injury, but the 

taking was accomplished prior to any use or threatened use of force, fear 

or violence, even viewing the facts in the light most favorable to the State? 

5.  The jury must decide whether the prosecution met its burden of 

proof, not search for the truth.  In both trials, the court instructed the jury 

that it could find the State met its burden of proof if it had an “abiding 

belief in the truth of the charge.” Did the court misstate and dilute the 

burden of proof in violation of due process by focusing the jury on 

whether it believed the charge was true? 

6.  The Washington Constitution prohibits cruel sentences, and the 

federal constitution prohibits sentences that are cruel and unusual.  Does 

the imposition of a life without parole term to the 34-year-old Mr. Giles 

violate these constitutional provisions where the instant third strike crimes 

do not render Mr. Giles among the most dangerous of repeat offenders, 

where his prior strike offenses are the only violent felonies in his criminal 
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history, and where the facts of the instant crimes show no one was 

seriously injured or endangered and public outrage would be minimal? 

7.  A defendant has a Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial and a 

Fourteenth Amendment right to proof beyond a reasonable doubt of every 

fact that authorizes an increase in punishment.  Did the sentencing court 

violate Mr. Giles’s constitutional rights by imposing a sentence of life 

without the possibility of parole based on the court’s own finding, by a 

preponderance of the evidence, that Mr. Giles had twice before been 

convicted of most serious offenses?   

8.  Was Mr. Giles’s right to procedural due process under the state 

constitution violated when the court made a finding by a preponderance of 

the evidence that Mr. Giles had twice before been convicted of most 

serious offenses? 

9.  A statute implicating a fundamental liberty interest violates the 

Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment if it creates 

classifications that are not necessary to further a compelling government 

interest.  The government has an interest in punishing repeat offenders 

more harshly than first-time offenders.  However, for some crimes, the 

existence of prior convictions used to enhance the sentence must be 

proved to a jury beyond a reasonable doubt, and for others—like those at 

issue in the Persistent Offender Accountability Act (POAA)—the 
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existence of prior convictions used to enhance the sentence need only be 

proved to a judge by a preponderance of the evidence.  Does the POAA 

violate the Equal Protection Clause by providing lesser procedural 

protections than other statutes whose purpose is the same? 

10.  Courts may not impose discretionary costs unless the 

defendant has a present or likely future ability to pay.  Though the trial 

court found Mr. Giles indigent and no evidence of his ability to pay 

discretionary costs was presented, the court imposed $200 in discretionary 

costs with payment to begin in January 2014.  Did the sentencing court err 

in ordering Mr. Giles to pay discretionary fees and costs? 

D.  STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Jason Giles is caring, sensitive and a hard worker.  RP 638-44.  He 

is also an excellent artist.  RP 639.  Around 2010, he and his girlfriend of 

12 years lost their jobs within months of each other.  RP 641-43.  Mr. 

Giles had never used drugs until, a short time later, his girlfriend suffered 

a traumatic miscarriage that also almost took her life.  RP 641-43.  He 

became depressed, apparently started using controlled substances, and the 

following events occurred.  RP 641-43. 

1. Champs incident – December 6, 2011.

On the evening of December 6, 2011, as Mr. Giles approached the 

parking garage of the NorthTown Mall in Spokane, the vehicle ran out of 
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gas.  RP 108, 117, 200-01.  An employee at Champs Sports store, 

Christian Riding, happened to be pulling into the garage at the same time 

and offered to help Mr. Giles push the vehicle into a parking spot.  RP 

112-14, 117.  Mr. Giles then asked Mr. Riding for gas money.  RP 117.  

While waiting for his friend, Mr. Giles went into the Champs store 

and, with the assistance of a couple clerks, started trying on shoes.  RP 

117, 147-48, 160-61, 201-02.  Christian Riding recognized Mr. Giles from 

the parking garage and was concerned because he had the impression from 

the request for gas money that Mr. Giles did not have any money.  RP 120.  

Mr. Riding informed his co-workers to keep an eye on Mr. Giles because 

he thought he might not have money to pay for the shoes.  RP 113, 120, 

145, 146, 162.  In Mr. Riding’s experience, it is also common that people 

who eventually shoplift shoes first ask to try on multiple pairs.  RP 121; 

see RP 146, 161-62 (coworkers trained that trying on more than three or 

four pairs of shoes is common precursor to shoplifting).

After about 25 minutes in the store, Mr. Giles said he was going to 

buy the pair of shoes he had on and proceeded towards the counter at the 

front of the store.  RP 122, 148, 187.  He then turned and made his way 

towards the exit.  RP 122, 148.  Mr. Riding and his co-worker were 

waiting by the exit and asked whether Mr. Giles was going to pay for the 

shoes, at which point Mr. Giles ran out the store, dropping an empty 



8

shoebox on his way.  RP 122, 139, 148, 157-58, 164, 209-10; Exhibit 6 

(part one) (surveillance video) (Dec. 2012 trial).1  Both employees started 

chasing Mr. Giles but Mr. Riding’s associate quickly tripped.  RP 122, 

125, 148, 153-54; Exhibit 6 (part two).  According to Mr. Riding, Mr. 

Giles at one point turned around, pulled out a short-bladed, folding knife, 

and, without making any further movement, stated “I will gut you.”  RP 

126-28, 131, 137-38, 141, 184, 193; see RP 154, 168 (co-workers did not 

see Giles stop or say anything to Riding).  Mr. Riding was some distance 

from Mr. Giles at this time.  RP 128.2

Mr. Riding stopped chasing Mr. Giles, who exited the mall in the 

stolen shoes.  RP 128, 130; Exhibit 6 (part three).  Mr. Riding returned to 

the Champs store a little winded and panicked, but otherwise fine.  RP 

150, 187.  He then spoke to mall security and the police.  RP 132. 

The $84.99 shoes were not recovered.  RP 196. 

                                            
1 The surveillance video at Exhibit 6 is the only exhibit from the Champs 

trial cited herein.  The remaining exhibits cited derive from the Costco trial in 
April 2013; there was no exhibit 6 offered in that trial.   

2 Mr. Giles testified that he walked out of the store with the shoes on 
because he was made to feel paranoid and uncomfortable by the clerks keeping 
watch over him and he was not thinking very well.  RP 202-06.  It was wrong, 
but he never turned back towards, threatened or pulled a knife on Mr. Riding.  RP 
206, 211, 213.  In fact, he did not obtain a knife until the next day.  RP 206-07, 
213.
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2. Costco incident – December 7, 2011.

The next day, a plain-clothes loss prevention specialist at Costco, 

Troy Humphrey, noticed Mr. Giles and an unidentified female pushing a 

cart through the store with a security system that Mr. Humphrey 

considered a high-theft item.  RP 452, 455, 484-85.  He kept watch over 

them.  RP 455-56.  Mr. Humphrey watched the two use pillows to cover 

up the security system and appeared to be removing the packaging and 

then placing the parts in different pieces of Mr. Giles’s clothing.  RP 456, 

459.  Mr. Humphrey continued to watch while Mr. Giles secreted another 

couple items in his clothing.  RP 459-60.  Mr. Humphrey watched the 

couple for about 25 minutes.  RP 485-86.  In total, Mr. Giles had the 

security system, a pair of gloves, and a video game secreted in his 

clothing.  RP 456, 460, 461, 509. 

Mr. Humphrey alerted Richard Wolfe, a colleague standing by the 

exit to the store but without a visible badge, and asked him to detain Mr. 

Giles after he went through the checkout area without paying.  RP 462, 

498.  As Mr. Giles crossed the exit, Mr. Wolfe said he needed to speak 

with Mr. Giles, who ran toward the parking lot.  RP 499-500, 523-24.  Mr. 

Wolfe grabbed him by the coat.  RP 500-01.  In trying to break free, Mr. 

Giles knocked Mr. Wolfe to the ground, who in turn grabbed Mr. Giles by 

his legs.  RP 500-01.  As Mr. Humphrey got to the exit area, he saw a 
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scuffle between Mr. Giles and Mr. Wolfe.  RP 464.  Also nearby were 

another Costco employee, Virgil Wear, and several customers.  RP 464, 

488-89, 506, 514-15, 535. 

Mr. Humphrey testified that Mr. Giles turned and punched the side 

of Mr. Humphrey’s face before Mr. Humphrey and Mr. Wolfe collectively 

brought Mr. Giles to the ground.  RP 467-68, 515.  Mr. Wear jumped in to 

help and held Mr. Giles’s head down.  RP 518.  Mr. Giles told them he 

could not breathe with their weight on him—he was face down on the 

ground—but they did not let up.  RP 491-92, 506, 558, 567.  They each 

held one of Mr. Giles’s arms, and Mr. Wolfe’s head was buried in Mr. 

Giles’s back.  RP 501-02.  In the process of restraining Mr. Giles, he bit 

Mr. Wolfe’s sleeve.  RP 471, 503-04; RP 569 (Giles bit because his 

airflow was being cut off).  Mr. Humphrey asked Mr. Wear to remove the 

handcuffs from Mr. Humphrey’s “back area” and place them on Mr. Giles.  

RP 472.  As Mr. Humphrey was pulling Mr. Giles’s hand out from 

underneath him, a folding knife came out.  RP 472-73, 539-40, 558.  Mr. 

Humphrey immediately pinned Mr. Giles’s wrist to the ground.  RP 473.

Mr. Humphrey struck Mr. Giles twice in the face.  RP 474-75.  The knife 

came free—the evidence was unclear as to whether Mr. Giles released the 

knife or it was forced out of his hand—and a bystander, Thomas Walters, 
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took possession of it.  RP 474, 510, 518-20, 536-38, 558.  The handle of 

the knife hit one of Mr. Wear’s knee.  RP 518-19, 558. 

Mr. Giles was placed in restraints and taken into the business 

office.  RP 477.  The police were contacted.  RP 478.  At trial, Mr. Giles 

admitted he attempted to steal the items, saying he wanted to sell them 

quickly in order to purchase drugs.  RP 574.  He denied removing the 

knife from his pocket or trying to hurt anyone.  RP 566-67, 572, 569-70. 

Troy Humphrey sustained a small bruise, but declined any medical 

attention.  RP 468, 546; Exhibits 8, 9; see RP 511 (colleague does not 

recall any marks on Humphrey’s face).  The scar from the bite to Mr. 

Wolfe’s arm had healed by the time of trial.  RP 503-05; Exhibits 12, 13.

Mr. Wear only sustained a small mark on his knee that did not require 

medical attention.  RP 520-22; Exhibits 10, 11.  Mr. Giles received a 

moderate abrasion on his head, and later complained of other injuries.  RP 

545, 568-69; Exhibit 7.  The goods were recovered and valued for a total 

between $264.97 and $288.89.  RP 482-84, 548. 

3. Procedural Background.

The State charged Mr. Giles with robbery in the first degree under 

the armed with a deadly weapon alternative for the Champs incident.  CP 

7.  With regard to the Costco incident, the State charged robbery in the 

first degree under the armed with a deadly weapon alternative and naming 
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Troy Humphrey, assault in the first degree against Virgil Wear and 

alleging a deadly weapon, and assault in the third degree against Richard 

Wolfe.  CP 7-8.3  The State filed a notice of most serious offense, based on 

a 2009 second-degree assault conviction and a 1999 first-degree robbery 

conviction.  CP 9, 116-29.4

Separate jury trials were held for each of the incidents.5  At each 

trial, for-cause challenges were conducted at a private bench conference 

and peremptory strikes were handled on paper at the unilateral direction of 

the court and without any on-the-record analysis.  RP 86-91, 429-33.  The 

State elected to proceed with only a second-degree robbery lesser included 

for the Costco incident.  RP 562-63. The juries were also provided with 

instructions on lesser-included offenses for the robbery in the first degree 

(Champs), the robbery in the second degree (Costco) and first-degree 

assault charges.  However, they ultimately convicted Mr. Giles of robbery 

in the first degree (Champs), robbery in the second degree (Costco-Troy 

Humphrey), assault in the first degree (Costco-Virgil Wear) and assault in 

                                            
3 The information also alleged one count possession of a controlled 

substance, methamphetamine.  CP 8.  This charge was eventually dismissed.  CP 
143; RP 360. 

4 Mr. Giles pled guilty to both prior offenses; the facts underlying the 
charges and pleas are not in the record.  See CP 116-36. 

5 An amended information was filed in conjunction with a guilty plea on 
the Costco-related charges that Mr. Giles withdrew before sentencing.  A second 
trial was subsequently held and the resulting convictions rest on the original 
information.  CP 46-47, 55-64; RP 346-47. 
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the third degree (Costco-Richard Wolfe).  Compare CP 33-36 (lesser 

included offense instructions for Champs trial), 43-44 (verdict forms not 

used for Champs trial), 86, 95 (lesser included instructions for Costco 

trial), 108, 110 (verdict forms not used for Costco trial) with CP 42 

(verdict form for Champs trial), 107, 109, 111 (verdict forms for Costco 

trial).6

At the sentencing hearing, Mr. Giles had numerous supporters who 

asked for leniency and spoke on his behalf despite understanding the 

mandatory sentencing scheme.  RP 353, 638 (court notes receipt of letters 

in support of Giles); RP 638-43 (Giles’s father, his girlfriend of 12 years, 

and a family friend speak on behalf of him at sentencing).  The trial court 

also expressed its difficulty imposing the sentence required.  RP 645.  It 

stated,

Well, you know, I’ve heard the word “leniency” used here 
a couple times.  And this is one of those situations where 
it’s very difficult to – you know, it’s a very difficult 
sentence for me to give.  And I want you to understand that. 

I truly do understand what drugs can do to someone. . . .  

The legislature has written rules, however. 

RP 645.  Under the Persistent Offender Accountability Act, Mr. Giles was 

sentenced to a lifetime of incarceration without parole on counts I, II and 

                                            
6 For each count, the jury also found that Mr. Giles was armed with a 

deadly weapon.  CP 45, 112, 113, 115. 
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III—the two robbery and the first-degree assault charges.  CP 138-51.  He 

was sentenced to 55 months on the third-degree assault charge   CP 143.

Jason Giles was 34 years old at the time of sentencing.  CP 137.   

E.  ARGUMENT

1. This matter must be remanded for new trials because 
the process of exercising for-cause challenges at sidebar 
and peremptory challenges by secret ballot excluded the 
public, and the court did not first conduct an analysis of 
the public trial right.

a. To comply with the constitutional right to a public trial, jury 
selection must be presumptively open to the public. 

Our state constitution requires that criminal proceedings be open to 

the public without exception. Const. art. I, § 10; Const. art. I, § 22.  Two 

provisions guarantee this right.  First, article I, section 10 requires that 

“Justice in all cases shall be administered openly.”  Additionally, article I, 

section 22 provides that “In criminal prosecutions, the accused shall have 

the right to . . . a speedy public trial.”  These provisions serve 

“complementary and interdependent functions in assuring the fairness of 

our judicial system.”  State v. Bone-Club, 128 Wn.2d 254, 259, 906 P.2d 

325 (1995).  The federal constitution also guarantees the accused the right 

to a public trial.  U.S. Const. amend. VI (“In all criminal prosecutions, the 

accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial . . . .”); see U.S. 

Const. amends. I, V. 
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While article I, section 10 clearly entitles the public and the press 

to openly administered justice, public access to the courts is further 

supported by article I, section 5, which establishes the freedom of every 

person to speak and publish on any topic. Seattle Times Co. v. Ishikawa,

97 Wn.2d 30, 36, 640 P.2d 716 (1982); Federated Publ’ns, Inc. v. Kurtz,

94 Wn.2d 51, 58-60, 615 P.2d 440 (1980).   

 The public trial guarantee ensures “that the public may see [the

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