#### **FILED**

31699-8-III

#### **COURT OF APPEALS**

MAR 10, 2014
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington

#### **DIVISION III**

#### OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

#### JASON M. GILES, APPELLANT

#### APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT

#### OF SPOKANE COUNTY

#### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

..

STEVEN J. TUCKER Prosecuting Attorney

Mark E. Lindsey
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Attorneys for Respondent

County-City Public Safety Building West 1100 Mallon Spokane, Washington 99260 (509) 477-3662

#### **

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

the sufficiency of the evidence in a criminal case, the reviewing court must draw all reasonable inferences from the evidence in favor of the State and interpret those inferences most strongly against the defendant. *State v. Hagler, supra*.

Again, appellant asks this Court to accept the credibility of his version of the incident contrary to the perspective taken by the jury in returning a guilty verdict. Again, as noted, this Court has ruled that it will defer to the trier of fact regarding issues of conflicting testimony, witness credibility, and the persuasiveness of the evidence. *State v. Walton*, 64 Wn. App. at 415-416. Here, the jury was satisfied that sufficient evidence was presented beyond a reasonable doubt since it returned a verdict of guilty.

Appellant claims the evidence is insufficient because defendant was handed the shoes that he stole, so he cannot be convicted of having "taken" the shoes. Appellant's Brief at page 39. Appellant argues that there is no evidence that he used force or the fear of force or any other charged means to "take" the stolen property or to facilitate his escape from the Champs store with same. Finally, appellant contends there is no evidence that he displayed a knife or threatened its use against Mr. Riding. Again, appellant asks this Court to accept his version of the offense as opposed to the testimony of all the other witnesses. Mr. Riding testified that the defendant stopped running away, pulled out a switchblade knife with the blade out, and threatened to "gut" Mr. Riding. JT-I-RP 125-130 and 141-142. As noted, this Court is required to defer to the resolution

of the disputed evidence that is reflected by the verdict of the jury. Again, the jury apparently chose to give more weight and consideration to the testimony of Mr. Riding and the other witnesses who testified that defendant stole the shoes, fled the store, and armed himself with the open-bladed knife to commit the first degree robbery. The evidence supported the verdict.

## D. SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE SUPPORTED THE SECOND DEGREE ROBBERY CONVICTION.

Appellant contends that insufficient evidence supported the jury verdict finding him guilty of Second Degree Robbery from the events at the Costco store. Appellant admitted that he stole the items that were found in his clothing from the Costco store but that he did not use force or the threat thereof to "take" the items because the "taking" was complete before he crossed the point-of-sale without paying. Brief of Appellant at page 44. The evidence was that Mr. Giles was still inside the store when Mr. Wolfe initially confronted him regarding the stolen items at Mr. Humphrey's request. JT-II-IV-RP 463-465. Mr. Humphrey testified that Costco's policy is to provide the customer every opportunity to pay for merchandise prior to leaving the store, so that if someone passes the pay-point Costco will not confront them until they try to exit the building without paying. JT-II-IV- RP 463-465. The evidence before the jury was that Costco did not consider it a "taking" until the individual left the building, so defendant could not manifest his intent to use force or threatened force to complete the "taking" until

he exited the building. Here, the jury had evidence that defendant admitted to stealing the property from Costco. In addition, there was evidence that defendant used force by punching Mr. Humphrey in the face and biting Mr. Wolfe on the arm to complete the "taking" and thereby retain that stolen property. JT-II-IV-RP 464-470, 471, 489, 492, 500-506, 515-516. The defendant denied punching Mr. Humphrey or biting Mr. Wolfe despite the evidence to the contrary. Reviewing the body of evidence before the jury with respect to the Second Degree Robbery charge per the standard of review noted above, there was sufficient evidence to support the guilty verdict by the jury.

# E. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY INSTRUCTED THE JURY ON THE DEFINITION OF THE STATE'S BURDEN OF PROOF.

Appellant claims that the trial court misstated the definition of beyond a reasonable doubt in its instructions to the jury. Appellant argues that the trial court's instruction diluted the State's burden of proof because of the inclusion of the "abiding belief" bracketed material. Appellant contends that the Supreme Court's comments in its *State v. Emery*, 174 Wn.2d 741, 278 P.3d 653 (2012), decision that a prosecutor's argument that it is the jury's duty to determine the truth constituted misconduct supports his argument herein. Specifically, that the use of the "abiding belief in the truth" constitutes a misstatement of the law because "the jury's job is not to determine the truth of what happened. *Id.*, 174 Wn.2d at 760.

Appellant's argument is a little strained in light of the Supreme Court's holding in *State v. Bennett*, 161 Wn.2d 303, 278 P.3d 653 (2012). The definition of beyond a reasonable doubt that the Supreme Court ruled should not be used is that:

Proof beyond a reasonable doubt is proof that leaves you firmly convinced of the defendant's guilt. There are very few things in this world that we know with absolute certainty, and in criminal cases the law does not require proof that overcomes every possible doubt. If, based on your consideration of the evidence, you are firmly convinced that the defendant is guilty of the crime charged, you must find him guilty. If on the other hand, you think there is a real possibility that he is not guilty, you must give him the benefit of the doubt and find him not guilty.

#### Id., 161 Wn.2d at 313.

The trial court did not use this cited version of the definition of the State's burden of proof in this case. The Supreme Court's Washington Pattern Jury Instructions Committee's ("WPIC") comments regarding WPIC 4.01 discuss the two approved versions of "beyond a reasonable doubt." The WPIC comments regarding the "abiding belief" note that this definition of reasonable doubt has been approved by the Supreme Court and this Court.

Appellant relies on the Supreme Court's dicta in *State v. Emery, supra*, to hereby have this Court overrule the Supreme Court's approval of the use of the "abiding belief" definition of beyond a reasonable doubt. The Supreme Court's focus in *State v. Emery* was on the prosecutor's arguments and does not provide a

valid basis to conclude that the trial court's definition of beyond a reasonable doubt was erroneous or diluted the State's burden of proof in this case.

# F. THE PROVISIONS OF THE PERSISTENT OFFENDER ACCOUNTABILITY ACT DO NOT VIOLATE THE EIGHTH AMENDMENT TO THE U.S. CONSTITUTION OR THE WASHINGTON CONSTITUTION ARTICLE I, § 14.

Appellant contends that the sentence imposed by the trial court pursuant to the POAA violates the U.S. Constitution, Eighth Amendment and Washington Constitution Article I, §14 when it is examined under the factors set out in *State v. Fain*, 94 Wn.2d 387, 617 P.2d 720 (1980). In determining whether a life sentence was grossly disproportionate to the fraud offenses for which it was imposed and thus violated the prohibition against cruel punishment, the *Fain* court considered (1) the nature of the offense; (2) the legislative purpose behind the habitual criminal statute; (3) the punishment the defendant would have received in other jurisdictions; and (4) the punishment imposed for other offenses in the same jurisdiction. *Id.*, 94 Wn.2d at 397. Appellant characterizes his crimes herein as "shoplifting" attempts not worthy of such a severe result under *Fain*.

Division I of this Court applied the *Fain* factors when it resolved the issue of whether a POAA sentence for a second degree assault constituted cruel and unusual punishment. In *State v. Ames*, 89 Wn. App. 702, 950 P.2d 514 (1998), the Court noted that: second degree assault is a most serious offense; the purposes of the POAA include deterring those who would otherwise commit three most

serious offenses and segregating those who do so from the rest of society; Washington's POAA is similar to state and federal legislation throughout most of the U.S. such that defendant would likely have received a similarly harsh sentence in most jurisdictions; and all defendants who have been convicted of a third strike receive a sentence of LWOP. *Id.*, 89 Wn. App. at 709-710 (*citing State v. Thorne*, 129 Wn.2d 736, 921 P.2d 514 (1996); *State v. Rivers*, 129 Wn.2d 697, 921 P.2d 495 (1996)). Finally, the Court observed that the defendant's three strikes (second degree assault and first and second degree robbery) were serious violent offenses directly comparable to the "strikes" that were the basis for the POAA sentences upheld in *Thorne*, *supra* (second degree robbery and first degree kidnapping) and *Rivers*, *supra* (attempted second degree robbery, second degree robbery and second degree assault).

Here, defendant's strikes were the most serious violent offenses of first degree robbery, second degree assault, first degree robbery, first degree assault, and second degree robbery. The trial court's conclusion that defendant's prior convictions plus current offenses were sufficient to trigger the POAA was appropriate. Accordingly, the imposition of the LWOP sentence does not constitute cruel and unusual punishment in violation of either U.S. Constitution, Eighth Amendment or Washington Constitution Article I § 14.

# G. THE TRIAL COURT'S IMPOSITION OF A POAA SENTENCE DID NOT VIOLATE DEFENDANT'S DUE PROCESS RIGHTS.

Appellant contends that his constitutional rights under the U.S. Constitution Sixth Amendment and the Due Process Clause of the U.S. Constitution Fourteenth Amendment were violated when the trial court, not the jury, found the existence of his prior two strikes for sentencing pursuant to the POAA. Appellant attacks the POAA on grounds that have long been rejected by the appellate courts of Washington.

Appellant cites to the holding in *Apprendi v. New Jersey*, 530 U.S. 466, 477, 120 S. Ct. 2348, 147 L. Ed. 2d 435 (2000), that a jury must determine every element of the crime with which the defendant is charged. However, the protections of the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments of the U.S. Constitution do not apply to the determination of the existence of a defendant's prior convictions. *See Almendarez-Torres v. United States*, 523 U.S. 224, 239, 118 S. Ct. 1219, 140 L. Ed. 2d 350 (1998); *Apprendi*, 530 U.S. 490 ("[o]ther than the fact of a prior conviction, proved beyond a reasoanble doubt" (emphasis added)).

In *State v. Thiefault*, 160 Wn.2d 409, 158 P.3d 580 (2007), the Supreme Court rejected appellant's argument that a jury must determine the existence of prior convictions.

This court has repeatedly rejected similar arguments and held that *Apprendi* and its progeny do not require the State to submit a defendant's prior convictions to a jury and prove them beyond a

reasonable doubt. See, e.g., *State v. Lavery*, 154 Wash.2d at 256–57, 111 P.3d 837; *State v. Smith*, 150 Wash.2d 135, 143, 75 P.3d 934 (2003), *cert. denied*, 541 U.S. 909, 124 S.Ct. 1616, 158 L.Ed.2d 256 (2004); *State v. Wheeler*, 145 Wash.2d 116, 34 P.3d 799 (2001), *cert. denied*, 535 U.S. 996, 122 S.Ct. 1559, 152 L.Ed.2d 482 (2002); see also *State v.* Ortega, 120 Wash.App. 165, 84 P.3d 935; accord *Almendarez–Torres v. United States*, 523 U.S. 224, 247, 118 S.Ct. 1219, 140 L.Ed.2d 350 (1998) (holding that the State need not prove the fact of a prior conviction to a jury).

*Id.*, 160 Wn.2d at 418. Here, the trial court determined the existence of defendant's prior strikes, so the imposition of a POAA sentence did not violate defendant's Sixth Amendment or due process rights. Of note is that appellant acknowledges that the Supreme Court has rejected his arguments on these very issues. Brief of Appellant 62, n. 14.

Alternatively, appellant claims that under the procedural-due process analysis of *Matthews v. Eldridge*, 424 U.S. 319, 96 S. Ct. 893, 47 L. Ed. 2d 18 (1976), that proof of his prior "strike" convictions must be to a jury beyond a reasonable doubt. This argument has also been rejected. In *State v. Heddrick*, 166 Wn.2d 898, 904, n.3, 215 P.3d 201 (2009), the Supreme Court observed that the balancing test of *Matthews v. Eldridge* was held inappropriate to assess the validity of state procedural rules in criminal cases. *Medina v. California*, 505 U.S. 437, 443, 112 S. Ct. 2572, 120 L. Ed. 2d 353 (1992). Finally, appellant's citation to Judge Quinn-Brintnall's opinions in *State v. Witherspoon*, 171 Wn. App. 271, 286 P.3d 996 (2012) and *State v. McKague*, 159 Wn. App. 489, 246 P.3d 558 (2011) (concurring/dissenting opnion), that the State must

prove prior "strikes" to a jury does not carry the day because it simply is not the perspective of the Supreme Court.

# H. THE TRIAL COURT IMPOSITION OF A SENTENCE PURSUANT TO THE POAA DID NOT VIOLATE DEFENDANT'S EQUAL PROTECTION RIGHT.

Appellant contends that his equal protection rights under the constitution were violated because his classification as a "persistent offender" under the POAA must be proved to a jury beyond a reasonable doubt and not found by a court. This argument has also been rejected by the appellate courts of Washington.

The equal protection clauses of the U.S. and Washington constitutions guarantees that persons similarly situated under the law receive equal treatment. *State v. Thorne*, 129 Wn.2d at 770-771; *State v. Manussier*, 129 Wn.2d 652, 672, 921 P.2d 473 (1996). As appellant notes, equal protection claims are reviewed under three standards depending upon the level of scrutiny required for the statutory classification: (1) strict scrutiny when a fundamental right is threatened; (2) heightened scrutiny when important rights or semi suspect classifications are concerned; and (3) rational basis scrutiny when none of the above rights or classes is threatened. *Manussier*, 129 Wn.2d at 672-673.

Appellant argues that the standard of proof for prior crimes that classify persistent offenders should be the same as that for prior crimes that elevate the level of a crime. Appellant cites to *State v. Roswell*, 165 Wn.2d 186, 192, 196 P.3d 705 (2008), to support his contention that when a prior conviction alters the crime that may be charged, the prior conviction becomes an essential element that must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt. Appellant contends that there is no rational basis for classifying a prior crime as an "element" to be proved beyond a reasonable doubt in some circumstances and as an "aggravator" to be proved by a preponderance of the evidence in other circumstances.

Appellant's basic equal protection argument was rejected in *State v. Williams*, 156 Wn. App. 482, 234 P.2d 1174 (2010). In *Williams*, the court noted that a defendant challenging the Legislature's differing treatment of two classes of defendants must show that such differing treatment rests on "grounds wholly irrelevant to the achievement of legitimate state objectives." *Id.*, 156 Wn. App. at 497 (*quoting State v. Thorne*, 129 Wn.2d at 771). This court held that the purpose of the POAA is to protect public safety by placing the most dangerous offenders in prison to reduce the number of serious repeat offenders, that the Legislature's differing treatment of recidivists vis-à-vis other offenders was not irrelevant to the purpose of the POAA such that there was no equal protection violation. *Id.*, 156 Wn. App. at 498.

Notably, Division One of this Court had rejected equal protection challenges to the POAA because "recidivists whose conduct is inherently culpable enough to incur a felony sanction are, as a group, rationally distinguishable from persons whose conduct is felonious only if preceded by a prior conviction for the same or a similar offense." *State v. Langstead*, 155 Wn. App. 448, 456-457, 228 P.3d 799 (2010). This precedent dictates that appellant's equal protection challenge must fail.

# I. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY IMPOSED DISCRETIONARY LEGAL FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS.

Appellant claims that the trial court's imposition of \$200 in court costs should be stricken because there was no evidence that defendant has or likely will have the ability to pay and the trial court did not enter such a finding. The lack of a specific finding regarding the ability to pay coupled with the fact that there is nothing in the record that the State has sought to enforce the payment of any discretionary fees imposed against Mr. Giles means that this issue is not ripe for review. The existence of the order in the judgment and sentence that his payments are to be \$5 a month beginning in January, 2014, does not establish that the State has sought to collect from Mr. Giles. Accordingly, the challenge to the order requiring payment of discretionary legal financial obligations on hardship grounds is not ripe for review.

Appellant relies upon the holding in *State v. Curry*, 118 Wn.2d 911, 829 P.2d 166 (1992), that a trial court can only impose discretionary costs and fees if there is evidence that clearly supports a finding that defendant has or likely will have the future ability to pay. Citing to *State v. Curry*, Division II of this

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